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1. Name of Property

historic name Hoyle Hous e

other names/site number Heyl ,Pieter, Homeplace

2. Location
South side NC 275, 1,400 feet southwest of South Fork
street & number of Catawba River N/A7) not for publication
city or town Dal | as = vicinity
state North Carolina code _NC _ county_Gaston code_071 zip code __28034

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this O nomination

O request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
[ meets [ does not meet the National R gister criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant
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] entered in the National Register.

() see continuation sheet.

1 determined eligible for the

National Register
[ see continuation sheet
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National Register.
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Register
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)
X private 8 building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
OJ public-local district 3 buildinas
J public-State O site 9
[J public-Federal UJ structure sites
[] object
structures
objects
3 0 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously listed
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) in the National Register
N/A 0
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
DOVESTI C'single dwelling VACANT/ NOT IN USE

DOVESTI ¢/ secondary structure

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
Georgi an foundation ___Stone
Feder al wall's weat her boar d
roof met al
ot her wood

brick

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Gaston County, NC
County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the properly
for National Register listing.)

[X¥ A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

U B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

(X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply)

Property is:

[J A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

U B removed from its original location.
[0 C a birthplace or grave.
a cemetery.
U E areconstructed building, object, or structure.
F a commemorative property.

U G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

‘Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture

_ Exploration/ Settl enent

Period of Significance
Second half 18th c. - First half 19th c.

Significant Dates
1794

Significant Person
(Complete if Critenion B is marked above)

N A

Cultural Affiliation
N A

Architect/Builder
Unknown
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Bibilography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

U preliminary determination of individual listing (36
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] designated a National Historic Landmark

[J recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#

[ recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #
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(] Other State agency
Federal agency
("] Local government
University
(] Other
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 8.95

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

AL 7) 1418,714,6,01 [3,9]0,9]0,9,0 = Lo b b

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

ol ) Ll b el by 73N H Y I O B O

[_] see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)
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Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.
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Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.
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DESCRI PTI ON

The Hoyl e House stands on a hill overlooking the South Fork of the Catawba River in
the county now named Gaston. It is a sturdy, two-story house sheathed in
weat her boards and exhi biting inmportant Gernman-Anerican construction features, The
mai n bl ock of the house obviously reflects two and possibly three phases of
construction, but the specific dates and chronol ogy of its construction remain
uncertain. It appears to date fromthe late eighteenth century, but it is possible,
as related by local and famly tradition (and explained in the statenent of
significance), that it was built as early as the m d-ei ghteenth century. A mgjor
renovati on, possibly ca. 1810, entailed the addition of the transitional late
Ceorgi an/ Federal finish and front and rear shed porches. At the north and of the
house is a weat herboarded addition of uncertain date connected to the main bl ock by
a breezeway that has been encl osed. The house faces south toward a now over gr own
dirt road; a twentieth-century macadam hi ghway on the north side now gives access to
the property. East of the house there are two dependencies dating fromthe

ni neteenth century; a brick well house and a franme snoke house. Al nost ni ne acres
of rolling farmland and several |arge wal nut trees surround the buil dings.

Ext eri or
Mai n Bl ock

The earliest section of the house is three bays wi de and two deep, mneasuring
approximately 32.3 feet by 26 feet, respectively. It stands two stories high on a
randomy laid rubble foundation, which is still visible along the eastern el evation
This section of the house exhibits several distinctive German-Anerican construction
techni ques, forenost of which is its heavy tinber frane construction with down
braces at the corners And horizontal log infill.* The horizontal hewn pieces,
approxi mately seven inches by sixteen inches, are tightly fitted between the heavy
corner posts and other posts defining structural and formal units, including the
posts on the side elevations that carry the sumer beam The interstices between
the logs are filled with nogging, Interrupted at the second-floor |evel, the corner
posts are slotted on the sides to receive the tenons of the horizontal |ogs. There
is no visual evidence fromthe interior that the horizontal [ogs or diagonal infil

| ogs are pegged into the posts. The pegged down braces at the corners and the top
bottom and mddle logs in the wall which function as sills and plates by passing
over or under the corner posts, provide structural rigidity. The joint where these
| ogs neet the corner posts appears to be a conbination of |apping and nortise and
tenon, The inside corner of the corner posts is chanfered to show the bevel ed face
in the room instead of cut Into an "L" shape.

*Much of this description is taken froma report prepared by Carl Lounsbury

and John Larson, "Sunmary of Hoyle House Site Visit Decenber 27, 1991," submitted to
the Gaston County Historic Preservation Conm ssion, Gastonia, NC, and on file at the
North Carolina State Historic Preservation Ofice, Raleigh. NC
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O her Gernman-Anerican features Include the "kick"” of the eave and a triangul ar
interior chimey at the east end of the house that serves two roons on the first
floor and one on the second. The apparently original and conplete roof structure,
now covered with early twentieth-century tin, is conposed of common rafters with
several of the collar beans pegged into the purlins and not aligned with the
rafters, The "kick" at the and of the roof is created by placing an additiona

el ement on the top of the rafter that changes the roof angle by extending the roof
line beyond the wall, Additional fram ng was nailed to the side of the front rafter
joists to support the ca, 1810 cornice.

The exterior is weatherboarded with plain woden corner posts, and a distinctive

nol ded, square-in-section cornice enbellished by a strip of gouged and punched
reversed dentils at its base. Much of the ca. 1810 beaded siding applied w th cut
nails with wought heads survives. This siding is sonewhat unusual in that the
bott om of each board, behind the bead and in that area that overlaps the piece of
sidi ng bel ow, has been rabbeted so the siding lies much flatter that otherw se

possi ble in | apped siding. Wde flush beaded boards sheathe the first story of the
mai n el evation. Cable ends are flush with nol ded raking boards, although the raking
boards at the east and have been | ost. Evidence of weathering of logs visible in the
staircase on the outer back wall (see floor plan, Exhibit 1) reveal that the
exterior originally was unsheathed, and it is likely that the ca. 1810 siding is the
original exterior sheathing.

Fenestration has been somewhat altered, although early wi ndows w th nine-over-six
and si x-over-si x doubl e-hung sash remain. These are set in finely nolded surrounds
with nolded sills and appear to date to ca. 1810. Renoval of later interior
sheathing at the first-fl oor east opening on the main facade reveal s evi dence t hat
the windows originally were quite small (approxi mately two-and-a-half feet square)
and possibly were filled only with shutters in the earliest period. The two snall
second-story wi ndows on the main facade, containing six-over-three doubl e-hung sash,
are not much larger than the original w ndow openings. Mst of the sills of these
two wi ndows have been renoved, apparently in the course of making repairs to the
porch roof which abuts them The eastern elevation is blind at both attic and
second-story levels, but has two windows at the first story, the southern of which
was introduced in the twentieth century, The western el evation contains two

ni neover-si x sash wi ndows symetrically positioned along the first and second
stories, plus a single attic w ndow.

The one-story porch with a tall shed roof across the nmain facade rests on a stone
foundation that is not keyed into the house foundation, indicating that the porch is
an addition, probably dating to the ca. 1810 renovation. The structure of the shed
roof is original but it is covered with nodern corrugated netal. Alnost all of the
west bay of the shed has been enclosed and partially screened in recent tines as an
entrance porch, but an original post with nortises for the rail on the front and
side survives outside the enclosure, opposite the southwest corner of the house.
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Very slender at the top, the post is shaped so that it gradually tapers outward
toward the mddle of Its Iength where it quickly curves inward and then conti nues as
a larger plain post to the floor. A recycled four-raised-panel door |leads to the
interior of the porch where the original w de, beaded horizontal flush sheathing and
ni ne-over-si x window In the west bay remain intact. The rest of the shed across the
mai n facade accommodates a kitchen. This end of the porch has been extended
southward with a nodern weat her boarded addition on a concrete bl ock foundation with
a six-over-six window on the front and a small single-sash wi ndow on the east side.
On the original main facade, the original shoul dered front door surround remains,

al t hough the door is a replacenent. The wi ndow opening in the east bay al so retains
its original surround but it has been altered to carry a nodern door fromthe
kitchen into the southeast front room

An original or early rear door nearly opposite the original front door has been
covered by nodern plywood but can be seen under the existing stair in the area that
fornmerly was the rear shed. Wen the rear door was abandoned, a now door was cut to
t he east, probably when the stair Was installed. An original or ca. 1810 wi ndow to
the east of this later door also has been closed off and it is likely that there

al so was a second rear w ndow on the west and of the wall that also was covered when
the stair was install ed.

In recent years the gabled western el evation has served as the front of the house.
Attached to it is a one-story five-bay porch running fromthe side of the shed
entrance porch across the eighteenth-century block and nost of the | arge nineteenth-
century rear wing. The porch, of early twentieth-century character, has a pressed
tin hipped roof with exposed rafter ends and is supported by five wooden posts on
brick plinths, Concrete steps approach to the porch opposite the door |eading to the
area that originally was the rear shed. Near the mddl e of the west elevation of the
mai n bl ock, a battened hatch cut into the porch floor provides access to stone steps
perpendi cul ar to a short batten door leading to a small dirt-floored cellar. This
space appears to be an alteration after the first building period, as indicated by
the rebuilding of the original stone foundation when undercut by the cellar. The
collar walls do not relate structurally to anythi ng above.

Rear W ng

The | arge two-story, weatherboarded rear ell is three bays |Iong and two bays w de,
with a gabl ed roof covered in patterned pressed tin. Renoval of sel ected
weat her boards and exam nati on of the second-story nail pattern reveals that this
wing was built in two stages, beginning as a one- or one-and-a-half-story structure
of pine logs with half-dovetail corner notching that was enlarged with a frane
second story. The &ymetrically placed exterior gable-end chimey with single

st opped, concave shoulders that is cut stone at the first story (rmuch of it parged)
and one-to-seven comon bond at the second supports the theory of the ell's
construction in tw phases. The date of the |l og construction is unknown, but it
certainly was after the ca. 1810 renovation of the main bl ock, probably in the md
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ni neteenth century as indicated by the siding applied with cut nails w th machined
heads. This appears to be the only siding ever applied. The absence of chinking or
weat hering on the logs of the test area indicates that the all was probably covered
with siding fromthe start. The all's fenestration has been altered, with a w ndow
and door apparently added to the west wall and a door converted to a wi ndow on the
north wall west of the chi mey. The doubl e-hung wi ndows in plain post-and-linte
surrounds are in a variety of sizes and nuntin, patterns, including four (vertical).
over-one, six-over-one, and six-over-six. Three second-story w ndows--one in the
west el evation and two flanking the chi nmey--are nine-over-nine. As the second story
probably dates to the md- to late nineteenth century, these w ndows probably were
sal vaged from an earlier building. Eaves are flush in the gable and the cornice is
boxed w t hout nol ding on the west side.

As originally built, the ell was the full width of the ca. 1810 rear shed, which did
not extend Al the way to the east elevation of the main block, but the way in which
the first story of the all connected to the shed has not been determ ned. Panelling
on the south wall of the west and of the hall between the main block and the el
(against the main part of the house) pre-dates the wing, indicating that that area
was encl osed as a | ean-to, but whether or not the shed remained in place when the

|l og portion of the ell was constructed, with the rest of the shed |left open as a
breezeway (zoo fl oor plan) has not been determ ned. A seamin the weatherboarding of
t he second-story west el evation suggests that the second-story connection of the al
to the main bl ock was nade subsequent to the construction of the all's second story.
A two-story, alnost flat-roofed addition along the entire east side of the el
expanded the wing to the full width of the front part of the house in the md-
twentieth century. The addition's irregular fenestration consists of a door
approached by dil api dated brick and concrete steps on the east side and doubl e- hung
wi ndows in various sizes that are predom nantly six-over-six; a nine-over-nine

wi ndow in the second story of the and wall probably was noved fromthe east wall of
the ell.

Interior
Mai n Bl ock

The first floor of the main block of the Hoyle House is in a four-room plan
consisting of two | arger southeast and northeast roons with corner fireplaces
sharing the single chimey and two smaller southwest and northwest roons. Each pair
is of equal width, but in both cases the front roomis slightly deeper than the rear
room There is evidence that a second north-south partition, no |longer in place,
was inserted subsequent to the existing board partitions to create a center- hal
plan. Al roonms connect with adjacent roons, but the door connecting the two
smaller roons is a later nodification. The original staircase in the southeast
corner of the larger front room enclosed with one set of wi nders and at |east one
stop outside the enclosure, was renoved in the late 1960s and the south wi ndow on
the east facade (now the only window in this roon) inserted.
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The first-floor interior is carefully finished. Mbddern panelling and sheetrock were
applied to nost of the walls and ceilings, except for the interior walls and ceiling
of the northeast room but nuch of these later coverings have been renoved wthin
the past two years to reveal early board ceilings, wal nut panelled partitions, and
Wl nut panelling on the outer walls. Wile sonme or all of the interior sheathing
appears to pro-date 1810, all of the trimand sone of the ceiling probably dates to
the renodelling. In all four roons, two-part nolded surrounds are at all of the
doors and wi ndows and Federal -style chair rails with a narrow nol ded shelf doubl e as
wi ndow sills. Interior doors have Six raised panels. Baseboards are typical of the
period, sinply nolded at the top. Cornices are heavily nolded, with that in the

| argest, southeast roomthe nost robust.

Al of the main block's first-floor walls are finished in vertical tongue-in-groove
panel I i ng. Flush beaded boards cover the outer walls, but whitewashed | ogs visible
where the panelling has been renoved reveal that the outer walls originally were
unsheat hed. The absence of a flush board ceiling during the building s first phase
is evident in chanfered, unpainted joists supporting second-story floor boards that
are beaded on both sides and stained by soot on the under side, Evidence including
subtle differences in the vertical nolding of the raised partition panels (which are
in various widths and continuous fromfloor to ceiling, overlapped by the chair

rail) indicates that the first-floor partitions were built at various tinmes, but the
exact sequence of their installation has not been determ ned. Were pieces of nolded
corni ce have been renoved fromthe north-south partition and outer wall sheat hi ng,
there is the line of an earlier, smaller cornice, perhaps identical to the sinple
coved cornice on the second floor; the fact that this earlier cornice |ine does not
appear on the east-west partition suggests that the installation of the partition
dividing the east roonms was a | ater phase. Furthernore, staining of the under sides
of the floor boards above the east-west partition also suggests that the east roons
originally were a single space and supports a very early date for the north-south
partition; it is also possible that the entire first floor began as one | arge room

Theories regarding fewer original roons on the first floor are supported by the

pl acenent of the north fireplace under the summer beam and all of the flues on the
south side of the post, indicating that the current configuration is an alteration
of an original single fireplace parallel with the east wall. The east-west partition
dates fromthe reworking of the fireplace, certainly after the insertion of the
north-south partition. The flush beaded board ceiling of the northeast room was
installed at or shortly after the east-west partition was constructed. The fina
phase of the main block's interior finish entailed installation of the flush beaded
board coiling and the nol ded cornices, as well as the mantel pi eces. This later
installation of the |larger cornice cut off the tops of the pairs of vertical raised
panel s over the doors to the west roons.
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The principal features of the two larger first-floor roons are the corner
fireplaces. The fireplace in the southeast room has an over-mantel as well as a
mant el pi ece. Here, the three-part architrave surrounding the opening is topped by a
slightly narrower frieze with three raised panels (the mddle one rectangul ar and
the outer one square) flanked by short grooved pilasters carrying a nol ded shelf
that breaks out over the pilasters. Taller but simlar pilasters recur to enfrane
the over-mantel which has two rows of raised panels-identical to those of the
frieze. These pilasters have nol ded caps that break out fromthe nol ded cornice. To
the right, a narrow cupboard occupies the triangul ar space between the fireplace and
the east exterior wall. The dining roommantel piece is simlar in its basic design
but smaller and nore distinctly Federal in character, with a narrower, two part
architrave at the opening topped by a frieze of the sane width. The frieze al so has
three rai sed panels flanked by short grooved pilasters carrying a nolded shel f that
breaks out over the pilasters, but here the panels are all rectangul ar and
vertically oriented, their molding is Federal, and a band of punchwork appears at

t he bass of the shelf. The nolding and punchwork are very simlar to the exterior
cornice, A narrow cupboard al so occupies the space between the fireplace and the
outer wall,

The three-room plan of the second floor consists of a |arge east roomthat consunes
about two-thirds of the space and two small west roonms. Here, the north-south
panel | ed partition is stylistically very simlar to the north-south partition of the
first floor except that it has single raised horizontal panels over the doors to the
west roons. This basic three-room plan probably is original, although the partition
has been Moved at |east twi ce. Notches on the baseboard and patching of the wall

pl asters and chair rail indicate that the wall was noved east, into the |arger
space, by about three feet. It |Is possible that this may be a wall relocated from
the first floor rather than an original wall. Al outer walls were exposed | ogs

until they were plastered, probably early in the nineteenth century. As on the first
floor, the installation of the flush beaded board ceiling, here with a sinple coved
cornice, truncated the tops of the panels over the doors to the west roons. Doors,
baseboards, and surrounds are sinmlar to those of the first floor; chair rail &
consi st of a narrow nolded shelf in the Federal style on a short board, On the cast
wal I, the single unadorned fireplace servicing the second floor appears to be sinmply
an appendage attached to the western side of the chimey serving the two firepl aces
bel ow.

A door in the northeast corner of the large east roomleads to the enclosed attic
staircase with two winders at the top. In the stairwell the structural systemis
clearly evident as the corner post, down braces, and log infill have never been
sheat hed.

Qut bui | di ngs

The two remaining outbuildings date fromthe early to md-nineteenth century. Near
t he northeast corner of the mamin house, the well house is a one-story rectangul ar
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common bond brick building with ventilation holes on the east, north, and west ends
and penciled nortar joints. A gabled tin roof extends beyond the west elevation as a
porch with plain wooden posts sheltering the well. The well house stands at the

sout heast corner of the Hoyl e House. East of the well house there is a one-bay wi de
and one-bay deep frane, weatherboarded snmokehouse with a gabl ed roof sheathed in
sheet netal.
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STATEMENT OF SI GNI FI CANCE
Summary

The Hoyl e House in Gaston County is an inportant and in sone respects apparently

uni que | andmark of traditional German-Anerican architecture in North Carolina. The
unusual |y largo and substantial dwelling exenplifies a construction mnethod--heavy
tinmber frame with log infill-seen el sewhere in the md-Atlantic Germani c settl enent
areas but not hitherto identified in North Carolina. The date of construction and
thus the identity of the first owner of the house cannot be determ ned from existing
docunent ati on, nor can the exact chronol ogy of its devel opment. The house stands on
land granted to German settler Pieter Hoyle in 1754, but it is not clear that the
house was built by 1761, by which tine he and his son Jacob both had died. After
bei ng owned by Jacob's minor son Martin and then by Jacob's brother John, in 1794
the property wont to Pieter Hoyle's grandson Andrew, who becane a wealthy farmer and
entrepreneur. "Rich Andrew,” as he was known, may have acquired the property with

t he house al ready standi ng and then executed inprovenents to the dwelling, or he may
have built the house and subsequently upgraded it with now finishes in the early
years of the nineteenth century. Before his death in 1856, Andrew al so may have been
responsi ble for the construction of the first story of the rear | og w ng, which
appears to date fromthe md-nineteenth century and conpletes the basic "footprint”
of the house. Wth further investigation, if the Hoyl e House can be firmy dated

t hr ough ar chaeol ogy, dendrochronol ogy, or additional documentation, its place in the
devel opnent of German- Anerican architecture in the Piednont can be nore clearly
under st ood. Whatever the details of its chronol ogy, this conplex and extraordi nary
house adds significantly to the story of Gernman-Anerican architecture in North
Carolina, and prom ses to enrich that story further as additional research becones
possi bl e.

Settl ement Context and Hi storical Background

Gaston County was not established until 1846, but its history dates to the first
hal f of the eighteenth century when it was part of Bladen County and its earliest
settlers inhabited areas al ong the waterways anong the Catawba | ndians.® The
settlers found |life here peaceful, but somewhat unstable as English and French
col oni sts conmonly set one band of Indians against another to weaken their ranks

Y Originally part of Bladen County, the area that today is Gaston County became part
of Anson County in 1750 and part of Meckl enburg County in 1762. The area was in the
short-lived Tryon County from 1768 to 1779, at which tinme it was enconpassed by

Li ncol n County. Wen Lincoln was divided in 1846, the southern half was named Gaston
after Judge WIIliam Gaston. David Leroy Corbit, The Formation of the North Carolina
Counties, 1663-1943 (Ral eigh: State Departnent of Archives and History, 1950), 250.

For the sake of clarity, the vicinity of the Hoyle House is hereinafter referred to
as Gaston County.
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agai nst the white newconers.? Wien the di spute over the boundary between North
Carolina and South Carolina was settled in 1772, nost of the Indians settled on a
reservation in South Carolina.

Most farms were small, cultivated primarily by white yeoman farmers. North
Carolinas colonial governor made a policy of restricting the size of |and grants,
and in Gaston County they tended to be about 400 acres each.® One of the earliest
grants in the area was given to Captain Samuel Cobrin, commander of a mlitia
conpany, on Septenber 29, 1750. In 1750 a |land grant was requested by Bostian Best,
and in 1754 two land & grants went to Peter Hoyl, Beat's father-in-law,* It is
bel i eved that these settlers were already in the area as it was comon for pioneers
to have cultivated their land for several years before receiving title for it. As a
result of these recordings of |ands, many nanes becane Anglicized. For exanple, Heyl
became Hoyl and | ater Hoyle. (Hereinafter, the npbst recent Anglicized versions of
the nanes will be used.)

Beginning in the late seventeenth century, thousands of Rhinelanders enmigrated to
the American colonies to escape the war and religious strife of their honel and. The
earliest group to cone to North Carolina settled in New Bern in 1710. Wthin a few
decades nore Germans arrived I n Phil adel phia and noved out into the md-Atlantic
zone and sout hward. By the 1750s, Germans were noving into the western Piednont. The
| argest settlenment was the Wachovia tract of Mravians that had come from Bet hl ehem
Pennsyl vania. The first winter was spent In a place they called Bethabara, or "house
of passage.' In 1766 these Mravians began to build Sal em

During the sanme period of tine the German pioneers were entering Gaston County and
est abl i shing honesteads. O seventy-six identifiable persons in Captain Samuel
Cobrin's list, land grant records and other evidence indicate that fifty-six were
resi dents of what are today Lincoln and Gaston Counties. O these fifty-six
settlers, at least thirty-five were Germans, seven Scotch-Irish, seven English, five

2Chapman J. MIling, Red Carolinians (Chapel Hill: University of North
Carolina Press, 1940), 241. Footnotes from South Carolina Records, British Public
Records O fice XXV, 413, and XX, 154,

%Robert F. Cope and Hanl ey Wade Wl | man, The County of Gaston: Two Centuries
of a North Carolina Region (Gaston County Historical Society, 1961), 13, hereinafter
cited as Cope and Wl |l man, The County of Gaston

“Margaret M Hof mann, Col ony of North Carolina 1735-1764, Abstracts of Land
Patients, Volunme One (The Roanoke News Conpany, 1982), 318.

*Catherine W Bishir, North Carolina Architecture (Chapel H Il and London: The
Uni versity of North Carolina Press, 1990), 29-30, hereinafter cited as Bishir, North
Carolina Architecture
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Dutch, and two of French origin. Historically. the significance of the list lies in
its revelation of a sizable settlenment west of the Catawba River as early as 1748.6

Peter Hoyle and his famly left the northeastern part of Lancaster County,

Pennsyl vani a, to take advantage of the good cheap | and available in piednont North
Carolina. They passed through settlements in the Shenandoah Vall ey and eventual ly
t hrough Salisbury, North Carolina.. Somewhere along the way Hoyl e net Bostian Best
who had left his cabin in Gaston County to find a wife back in Pennsylvania. He
offered his cabin to Hoyle and his famly until his return.’

Hoyl e, his son Jacob, and Best were listed in Sanmuel Cobrin's mlitia, in 1748, and
on May 17 1754, Peter Hoyle received the two adjoining |land grants totaling 800
acres.® it was on this tract of land that the original |og portion of the Hoyle
House was constructed, but it has not been determined for whomit was built as both
Peter and his son Jacob died sonetine prior to January 20, 1761, when they were
listed in an estate sale record.® Because of the |aws of prinpgeniture practiced in
the area, the estate of Peter Hoyle passed to his ol dest son, Jacob, but due to
Jacob's death the estate went to Jacob's eldest son, Martin, a mnor. It was not
until eighteen years later that Martin sold the tract to his uncle John Hoyle. Both
of them noved to d evel and County and John's son Andrew (grandson of Peter) took
ownership of the property on Qctober 20, 1794.%°

Andrew Hoyl e apparently was a very enterprising, hard-working, and influential young
man. Credit was given to himfor the establishnent of the first federal post office
In present Gaston County.'* The Hoylesville Post office, now destroyed, began
operation in 1817 and stood near the Hoyl e House. Andrew Hoyl e remai ned postmaster
until his death in 1857 and Hoylesville, as the vicinity of his farmwas known,
served as the center of political and econonmic activity in the area.

®Robert W Ransey, "Captain Sarmuel Cobrin's Conpany of Mlitia, The First
Settlers of Gaston and Lincoln Counties,” Journal of North Carolina CGeneal ogy, Vol.
XIl, No. 4 (Wnter 1966), 1775.

Laban M1les Hoffrman, Qur Kin (1915, reproduced by Gaston County Historica
Society, 1968), 351-352, hereinafter cited as Hoffman, Qur Kin. Elizabeth Hoyl e
Rucker, The Ceneal ogy of Pieter Heyl and H s Descendants 1100-1936 (Shel by, NC
Zol i acoffer, Jenks, Thonpson, 1938), 31-32.

8 Captain Samuel Cobrin Mlitia List," Mlitia Returns, Bladen and Anson
Counti 9 51 Records, 1748-1750, Departnent of Archives and History, Raleigh, N C

*The Estate of Peter Hoyl e Deceased," Anson County Records 1751-1795, Vol
801.1,18. 325, Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, N C

"Deed Book 17, p. 328-329, Lincoln County Deeds, Lincoln County Courthouse,
Li ncol nton, N.C.

1" Andrew Hoyl, First Postmaster in County as Big Land Owner," The Gastonia
Gazette, Gazette Centennial Edition, 5 October 1946, Section 2. p. 20.
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Known by relatives and friends as "Rich Andrew," he accumul ated so much weal t h that
he was credited as being the weal thiest person in Gaston County at his death. The
1840 Lincoln Tax List credits himw th 2,707.25 acres and si xteen black polls. Hs
son Eli was listed with 476 acres and seven black polls. In 1846, with the creation
of Gaston county from Lincoln, Andrew was listed with 18,831 acres, including 16, 000
acres associated with the H gh Shoal s Furnace, and other acreage in Lincoln and

C evel and Counties.' He operated four stores and owned interests in the Kings
Mountain Gold M ne and the Abernathy Forge.®® Today the nost tangible indication of
his financial success is the Hoyle House as he is credited with its renodelling with
| ate Georgian and early Federal finishes around 1810.

The Hoyl es wore nenbers of the Reformed Church, but due to the scarcity of Refornmed
churches in the area, the famly attended nearby churches. Andrew becane invol ved
with the Presbyterian faith as a |leader and lay mnister and was instrunental in the
creation of the Dallas Presbyterian Church, an outreach of Goshen Presbyterian
Statements and accusati ons he nade agai nst David Henkel, who was seeking ordi nation
in the Lutheran Church (attended by certain Hoyle fam |y nenbers), were used by
Henkel's adversaries in the North Carolina Lutheran Synod. U timtely. supporters of
Davi d Henkel created the Tennessee Synod of the Lutheran Church.

Andrew Hoyl e di ed February 9, 1857, and his estate settlenent was so conpli cated
that it was not final for twenty-five years. The will witten on Novenber 2, 1856,
was very explicit. He gave to his "only and | oved but afflicted son Caleb W Hoyl"
the I and “contai ning the hone tract, the Cox, Hovis and Tayl or places,” about 720
acres. HE also willed Caleb ton slaves, livestock, horses and mules, grain, farm
equi prent, a buggy, and his store in Dallas. Because Cal eb was a deaf nute, Andrew
Hoyl e appointed three trustees. '

The estate sale and settlenment of Andrew Hoyle was a manmmot h undertaking. Hi s estate
was worth over $200, 000, excluding his large nunber of slaves. There were
twenty-five heirs and a nunber of |awsuits concerning property hol di ngs and paynent
of debtors to the estate. In addition, new trustees had to be appoi nted because two
died and the third noved to another state. At Caleb's death, only the honepl ace
tract of 280 acres remained in his possession.

2Tax Lists, Lincoln County Records, Division of Archives and History,
Ral ei gh N. C

BHof f man, Qur Kin, 446-447.

“Henkel Fanmily Papers, Charles Lee Coon Papers (M scellany re David Henkel
The Flowers Col |l ection), Perkins Library Manuscript Departnent, Duke University,
Durham N C. Al so David Henkel Papers, Southern Hi storical Collection, University of
North Carolina, Chapel HII, NC

W1l Book 1, page 78, Gaston County WIlls Cerk of Court Ofice, Gaston
County, Courthouse, Gastonia, N C

%Andrew Hoyl 1857," Estate Papers, Gaston County Records, Division of
Archives and Hi story, Raleigh, NC
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The Hoyl e House has changed bands several times since 1977 when Caleb Hoyle's estate
sold it to L. L. Suggs for $4,062.80. Mary Suggs, w dow of L. L. Suggs, sold the
property to T. A Setzer in 1911. The next year it was sold to R A Lewis and sold
again in 1914 to Ms. Frances L. Stroup. It was conveyed in 1958 to Lawence L. and
Mary War* Stroup and Ernest Q and Helen Stroup.

In 1938 Ms. Elizabeth Hoyl e Rucker published The Geneal ogy of Pieter Heyl and Hi s
Descendants. The publication renewed interest In the Hoyle famly heritage, and two
years later , an July 12, 1938, descendants erected a stone narker at the honepl ace
to pronote the property. Later the marker was been noved to Kadi sh Church in

G evel and County, where famly reunions used to be held. In 1991 the Hoyle Fanmily
Foundati on was organi zed In order to purchase the house and surroundi ng 8.95 acres.
Pl ans are under way for a careful restoration of the house and its eventual opening
to the public and annual famly reunions once again are occurring at the historic
site.

Architectural Context: "German-Anerican Donmestic Architecture in the Western
Pi ednmont of North Carolina in the Eighteenth and Early N neteenth Centuries”

Al though its construction date is as yet uncertain, the Hoyle House was built and
renodel ed during the first generations of settlenment in the western Piednont, and it
i s best understood as part of a broad tradition of Gernman-Anerican architecture in
North Carolina which extends fromthe 1750s Into the early nineteenth century. The
foll owi ng discussion is adapted by Catherine Bishir fromNorth Carolina
Architecture, published by the University of North Carolina Press In 1990, and
augnment ed by observations on md-Atlantic exanples by Bernard L. Herman, "The Hoyle
House, Dallas vicinity, Gaston County, North Carolina,"” unpublished report, 1992.

An inmportant mnority anmong North Carolina's piednont settlers were German. Their

| anguage, culture, and architecture remained distinctive into the nineteenth
century, providing the chief exanple of identifiable, non-British building
traditions. Most North Carolina Gernmans were part of the massive |Inmgration of
Germans fromthe Rheni sh Pal atine and other parts of the Rhine Valley. Beginning in
the | ate seventeenth century and throughout much of the eighteenth century,

t housands of Rhinel anders |eft a honel and wacked by war and religious strife and
em grated, often via Holland and England, to the American colonies. They arrived in
a growi ng streamin Phil adel phia And fanned out Into the southeastern Pennsylvania
countryside and into Maryland and Now Jersey. As good farmand in the md-Atlantic
country filled up, German farnmers and new I mm grants began in the 1730s to turn

YGaston County Register of Deeds, Gaston County Courthouse, Gastonia,
N. C.: Book 70, page 452; Book 79, page 605; Book 97, page 136, 137; Book 104, page
499; Book 714, page 276
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their sights southward to the [ ands of the Shenandoah Valley and thence al ong the
great valley road Into the back country of piednont North Carolina.'®

A few German pioneers arrived in piednont North Carolina in the 1730s and 1740s, but
German imm gration increased dramatically in the md-1750s and conti nued throughout
the century. In North Carolina, as in the md-Atlantic colonies, English and Scotch-
Irish settlers had al ready staked out rmuch of the good | and. Concentrating in the
west ern pi ednont, Gernmans established clusters of farnms and fornmed churches in
certain sections of counties, while British farners domi nated ot her sections. The

| argest single German settlenent was the Wachovia tract of nearly 100, 000 acres
centered in present Forsyth County, purchased by the Mravian Brethren from Lord
Granville. The Moravian , a Protestant sect who included nenbers from many sections
of northern and central Europe, shared many aspects of German | anguage and culture
wi th their Rhenish neighbors, but their conmunity [ife was quite different, being a
strictly regul ated theocracy. El sewhere in the piednont, German settlers established
t hensel ves in clusters of independent farnsteads |inked by extended famly
connections and by participation in Lutheran, Reforned, or, |ess nunerous, German
Bapti st (Dunker) congregations, The easternnost concentration of German settl enent
appeared in southwestern Guilford and nort hwestern Randol ph counties on the edge of
t he Quaker and Presbyterian belt, The western Pi ednont, including present Forsyth,
Davi dson, Davis, Rowan, Meckl enburg, Cabarrus, Lincoln, and Gaston counties drew
strong contingents of German settlers. By 1790 it was estinmated that 10 to 30
percent of the piednont popul ati on was of German origins. Qutnunbered by English and
Scotch-1rish neighbors, the Germans were perceived as a distinct group, and many of
them strove to maintain German cul ture and ways. ™

The tenacity of German culture varied fromconmmunity to conmmunity, famly to famly,
and between one aspect of |ife and another, The use of the German | anguage conti nued
well into the nineteenth century, with a period of transition fromGerman to

bi | i ngual and predom nant English com ng between 1825 and 1850. In the late

ei ghteenth century, German dominated In many churches and famlies; by the 18305.
sernons in Reforned and Lut heran congregati ons were often preached in both

| anguages; by the late nineteenth century, use of German had all but disappeared,
and in the early twentieth century only a few old peopl e know t he | anguage. GCernman
artistic traditions flourished well into the nineteenth century, in ceramcs,
furniture, carpentry techniques, and, in some areas, gravestones.?°

8Robert W Ransey, Carolina Cradle: Settlenment: of the Northwest Carolina

Frontier, 2747-1762 (Chapel Hll: University of North Carolina Press, 1964), 146
151.

¥ pid. Harry Roy Merrens, Colonial North Carolina in the Eighteenth Century:
A Study in Historical Geography (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press,
1964), 57 62.

XCarl Haner, Jr., Rhinelanders on the Yadkin: The Story of the Pennsylvania
Germans in Rowan and Cabarrus (Salisbury: Rowan Printing Conpany, 1943), 96-97; Ruth
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Simlar patterns appeared in architecture. Traditional Germanic construction

met hods--often the work of artisans trained In the fatherland--usually prevail ed
fromthe 1750s through the 1780s. Fromthe 1780s or 1790s into the 1820s, Gernan
Carolinians were often "bilingual" In architecture as in | anguage, bl ending Germanic
traditions and mai nstream stylistic developnents. Finally, in the period fromthe
1820s to the Civil War, as popul ar national ideals gained away throughout nuch of

t he countryside, German- descended fam |lies acconmodated these trends. 21

In North Carolina, traditional Germanic houses of the md to |late eighteenth century
are very rare, especially outside the Wachovia tract settled by the Mravians, but
surviving exanples and early descriptions establish a few basic patterns of plan
construction, and finish. Normally these houses followed a few traditional plans of
one to four roons. Normally the main entrance opened directly into the main room
and fromthat roomdoors led to nore private chanbers, sone heated and sone

unheat ed. Central chi meys were common, but sone traditional Germanic houses were
also built with interior end chi meys, such as the Adam Spach House (1774), a 30 by
36 foot stone house built by Mravian nmasons in present Davidson County, now | ost.

Early Germani c houses in North Carolina were typically of one of three types of
construction: stone, "fachwerk"” or half-tinber, or log. (As far as is known, brick
construction did not appear in North Carolina Germanic buildings until the 1780s,
and was not comon until the 1790s: it apparently reflects interaction with British
traditions.) The principal surviving exanple of a Gernmanic stone dwelling is the

M chael Braun House, a two-story house, 29 by 40 feet, built in 1766 in present
Rowan County for Braun (1721-1807), a native of Hesse-Darnstandt who arrived in

Phi | adel phia in 1737 and appeared in Rowan County by 1758, where he becane a wealt hy

Little, "Folk Art in Stone," in Touart, Building the Back Country, An Architectura
H story of Davidson County, North Carolina, 276-281

ZIn German building traditions in Arerica and North Carolina see especially:

Edward A. Chappell, "Germans and Swiss, " pp. 68-73, in Dell Upton, ed., America's
Architectural Roots (Washington: The Preservation Press, National Trust for Historic
Preservation, 1986); Chappell, "Acculturation in the Shenandoah Val |l ey: Rheni sh
Houses of the Massanutten Settlenment, " in Dell Upton and John M chael M ach, eds.

Common Pl aces, pp. 27-57 (originally published in Proceedings of the American

Phi | osophi cal Society, February, 1980); Henry dassie, Pattern In the Material Fol k
Culture of the Eastern United States (Philadel phia, University of Pennsylvania
Press, 1968); WIIliam Wys Waver, "The Pennsyl vani a German House: European

Ant ecedents and New Wrld Forns,"” Wnterthur Portfolio, Vol. 21, No. 4 (Wnter,
1986), 243-264. See especially Paul B. Touart, "The Acculturation of German-American
Bui |l di ng Practices of Davidson County, North Carolina," 72-80, in Camlle Wlls,
ed., Perspectives in Vernacular Architecture 11 (Col unbia: The University of

M ssouri Press for the Vernacul ar Architecture Forum 1986), and Touart, Buil ding
the Back Country; An Architectural Hi story of Davidson County, North Carolina

(Lexi ngton: Davi dson County Historical Association, 1987).
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farmer, 'Fachwerk," or heavy tinmber framing infilled with soft brick or wattle and
daub, was a traditional Northern European construction nmethod favored by the

Mor avi ans and used I n several buildings in Wachovia, as early as the 1750s; the

| argest example is the Single Brothers House (50 by 38 feet, conpleted 1769), which
still stands in Salem The nbst comon construction nmethod, however, anmong German
settlers as anong their British neighbors in North Carolina, was |og construction
It was enployed by all German settling groups in North Carolina, both for tenporary
cabins and for large and substantial dwellings as well as agricultural buildings.
The Moravians, for exanple, nmoved into an existing | og house fornerly occupi ed by
one Hans Wagner when they settled at Bethabara in 1753/4, and they enpl oyed | og
construction for many of their own first buildings at Bethabara, in Bethania, and in
their principal town of Salem Surviving | og houses in the western Piednont exhibit
both V-notch and hal f-dovetail nethods of corner tinbering.

In houses of stone, fachwerk, or log, distinctive carpentry nethods recur in
Germani ¢ houses in North Carolina. Many Germanic roofs take on a shall ower slope as
they descend to the saves, giving a "kick" to the eaves, a form provided by pl aci ng
a wedge & op the end of the rafter. Typically, German joiners fashioned doors and
shutters in distinctive ways: sone were conposed of boards in herringbone patterns,
but nore often they were made of vertical boards crossed by a tapered horizonta
batten dovetailed into the boards. Inside well-finished Gernman- Aneri can houses,

pl aster usually covers the masonry walls, while partition walls may be made up of

si mpl e pl aned boards. German builders usually left structural nmenbers exposed, often
finished with a bead or chanfer, such as corner posts, sumer beans, and ceiling
joists. These elenents, |like those of plan and construction, were shared anong

Ger man- Aneri can houses of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century fromthe
md-Atlantic region into the North Carolina Piednont.

Al t hough few early Germani ¢ houses survive outside the Wachovia tract, an early
twentieth century description gives a vivid picture of one archetypal Germanic
dwel I i ng, now | ost--the massive | og house built in present Davidson County for

Val entin Leonardt (1718-1781), who emigrated from Katzenbach, Germany. The house.
recalled a county historian in 1910, was two stories tall, neasured 30 by 40 feet,
and was nmade of "Immense | ogo." Moreover, "two | ong beans, twelve by fourteen

i nches, ran through the whole length of the house to support the joists of the upper
floor. They were hewn with a 'broad axe' alnpbst to perfect snoothness, and the | ower
edges nicely chanfered."” The joists, too were "worked out of logs with the 'broad
axe' and are much | arger than carpenters now consider necessary."” The | ower |ogs of
the walls thensel ves nmeasured 12 by 20 inches, and were "rabetted on the inner side
to receive the joists for the first floor." Nails and the hinges of doors and
shutters wore handw ought iron. "Under the west end of the house was the great
collar, walled with [arge rough stones. This cellar was entered by a heavy slanting
door on the south side of the house. The |Imense chi mey stood near the niddle of
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the house with a fireplace on either side below, but with none on the upper floor
The chi mey was wi de enough to receive wood ei ght fact |ong.

Wthin this broad context of Gernman-Anerican construction in the western Pi ednont,
t he Hoyl e House appears to be both characteristic and unique. It shows famliar
CGermani ¢ features such as the typical eave ‘kick’ formed by shins atop the rafters;
and the exposed and fini shed sumrer beam and ceiling joists. It has a massive
interior end chimmey that supports the sunmer beam Not seen are batten or

herri ngbone doors; instead doors are paneled in keeping with the paneled partitions
and wai nscoting. \Wether the house originally had a single arge roomor a three or
four-roomplan with two unheated chanbers is not yet clear. The two-story house is
unusual in its size for an eighteenth century dwelling in the Piednont, but its
measurenents (30 by 25 feet) conpare with other substantial dwellings of the

ei ghteenth century.

Apparently unique in North Carolina is its method of construction. As described in
nore detail in section 7, the walls are constructed with a heavy downbraced ti nber
franme infilled with I ogs, a nmethod seen in the md-Atlantic area but not identified
before in any North Carolina exanples. Bernard Herman notes in "Hoyl e House" (1992)
that this type of construction, which "falls into a framing tradition that uses | ogs
as a formof infill or nogging," is seen in the md-Atlantic area occasionally in
col oni al period exanples but nore often in | ate-ei ghteenth and even early-nineteenth
century buildings, He cites the exanple of the Hess House, ca. 1740, near Lititz
north of Lancaster, Pennsylvania, a 25 by 42-foot house with a simlar but not
identical frame with heavy tinber posts with log infill; and the ca. 1800 Wbber -

@ ick House east of Lancaster, which neasures 30 by 34 feet and has di agonal ly
braced corner post frame construction with logs tenoned into the posts. O her

rel ated exanples exist in the Delaware Valley and central Pennsyl vania. The Hoyl e
House, built for a German fam |y who had previously lived in the md-Atlantic area
before noving to the North Carolina Piednont, is the first exanple of this system of
construction identified in North Carolina.

Al t hough the chronol ogy and preci se dates of renovations and i nprovenents to the
Hoyl e House acconpli shed during the | ong ownership of "Rich Andrew' Hoyle 1794-

1857) are not clear, these changes also fit into a broader regi onal context.

Thr oughout the North Carolina Piednmont as throughout the nation, the early nationa
peri od brought w despread inprovenent and updating of existing houses as well as
construction of many now ones. In renodeling their houses, Gernman-descended as well
as British-descended citizens usually partook of the classically derived styles then
popul ar for view construction: the late-CGeorgian style that persisted into the early
ni neteenth century and the Adam i nfluenced Federal style that began in the late

ei ghteenth century but did not gain conmon use in North Carolina until the 1810s and
1820s. Omners of existing frame and masonry as well as | og houses installed new

#2). C. Leonard, "Valentin Leonardt, the Revolutionary War Patriot of North

Carolina,” Pennsyl vani a-Grman (1910): 10; 20, quoted in Touart, "Acculturation," 73.



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number s Page 17 Hoyl e House, Gaston County, NC

partitions to provide nore roons and, in nmany cases, Passages; enclosed or covered
over once-exposed construction elenments; installed paneled instead of batten doors;
appl i ed paneling, plaster, or sheathing to old walls; installed stylish nmantels and
in many cases reduced the size of old fire openings; and applied now

weat her boar di ng, nol di ngs, cornices, porches, and other exterior finish in a fashion
simlar to now houses in their comunities. They al so added wings and ells to
enlarge their dwellings. In these renpdelings, houses often | ost sonething of their
traditional, ethnic character and gained a nore stylish, acculturated, and gentee
appear ance. Exanpl es &bound t hroughout the Piednont, in work done for both German
and British citizens. Andrew Hoyle participated in this pattern in at |east two
maj or i nprovenent canpaigns to his house, another stage in the devel opnent of

Ger mani c- Aneri can architecture in the Piednont.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRI PTI ON

Begi nning at a concrete nmonunent in the SE right-of-way of N.C. 275 and the NwW
corner of the Col eman property, proceed with the western line of Coleman S 14-08 E
220 feet to an iron stake; thence N 73-02-30 1 334.07 feet to an iron; thence S 1501
E 220.70 feet to an old iron; thence S 20-00-30 W289.99 lost to an old Iron; thence
S 3-27 W52.85 foot to an old iron; thence N 84-10-50 W741.16 feet to a point;
thence with the westerly line of Bertha S. Holland NE 342.49 feet to a concrete
monurent in the S margin of N.C. 275; thence with the road 494,50 feet to the

begi nni ng, containing 8.95 acres.

VERBAL BOUNDARY JUSTI FI CATI ON

The boundary enconpasses all the property both historically and currently Associ ated
wi th the Hoyl e House.
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Key TO THE PHOTOGRAPHS
The followi ng applies to all of the photographs:

Hoyl e House
Gaston County, NC
Carl Lounsbury
February 1992

GhownE

Mai n and vast side el evations, to the northeast.
Mai n and east side elevations, to the northwest,
Detail of main facade cornice, to the northwest.
Detail of original main entrance surround.

Rear and west side el evations, to the southeast.

Mant el pi ece, first floor southeast room

I & m o o ® »

Mant el pi ece, first floor northeast roomof the main bl ock.

[

J. Mant el pi ece, second fl oor of main bl ock.
K. Second fl oor cast room of main block, |ooking toward west

L. In stair wall to attic, exposed framng and log infill at
mai n bl ock.

X. Attic of main block, to northeast.

N. Vel | house, to northeast,

North Carolina Division of Archives and H story, Raleigh, NC

vi ew of vast end of first floor northeast room of the main bl ock.

nort heast corner

of



